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MINUTES OF THE
CITY OF SANTA FE
ETHICS AND CAMPAIGN REVIEW BOARD

Tuesday, April 19, 2017
1. PROCEDURES
A. ROLL CALL

A regular meeting of the City of Santa Fe Ethics and Campaign Review Board was called to order
on the above date by Justin Miller, Chair, on this date at approximately 3:00 p.m. in the City Council
Chambers, 1# floor, City Hall, 200 Lincoln Avenue, Santa Fe, New Mexico.

Roll call indicated the presence of a quorum as follows:

Members Present: Members Absent:
Justin Miller, Chair Ruth Kovnat (excused)
Paul Biderman

Judith Amer

Tara Lujan

Kristina Martinez

Seth McMillan

Staff Present:
Zachary Shandler, Assistant City Attomey

Others Present:
Jim Harrington, Common Cause

Karen Heldmeyer, Former City Councilor
Charmaine Clair, Stenographer

B. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

Member Martinez moved to approve the agonda as published. Member McMillan seconded
the motion, which passed by unanimous voice vote,

C. APPROVAL OF MINUTES April 4, 2017

Member McMillan moved to approve the minutes of April 4, 2017 as presented. Member Martinez
seconded the motion, which passed by unanimous voice vote.
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2. DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION

a) Case #2017-4/4. Complaint filed by Edward Stein Alleging Vioation of SFCC 1987, Section 9-2

and 9-3; “Failure to Comply with Clty Ordinances Regarding Campaigning and Elections” against Rio
Grande Foundation.

Chair Miller invited Mr. Stein to address the substance of the complaint.
Mr. Edward Stein, complainant, was swom.

Mr. Stein said he and his wife have owned their home in Santa Fe since 1990. He is a retired atiomey
who has practiced for almost 50 years in Chicago concentrating on civil rights. He and his wife are active in

the community. He has done community work throughout the city in political campaigns with issues such as
this.

Mr. Stein said he did not challenge Rio Grande or Mr. Loveless, Mr. Gessing, or their organizations.
Nor did he take issue with their message or right to oppose the tax, just as he has the right to support the
tax. He said he does take issue when both organizations do not prepare and file timely reports, as required.
Rio Grande filed a response 1o his complaint that they would consider what to do by April 14, but he has not
Seen any paperwork submitted on that response.

He noted that their YouTube vigeo is an animation possibly costing in-kind or out-of-pocket over
$3,000, which more than meets the 9.2-6 threshold of a $250 expenditure.

Mr. Stein said the thrust of his complaint is that Rio Grande has met and exceeded the axpenditures
that require them to file and they have not filed the amount of money received or from whom. He has an
affidavit from Glenn Silber, a documentary film maker who estimates the cost of the video is at least $3,000
lo produce (Exhibit 1). He said Mr. Silber agreed to be available for Cross-examination should this go to
hearing. He would be available at their convenience through Tuesday, April 24 for interview or deposition.

There were no questions from the Board for Mr. Stein.

Chair Miller asked if there was representation for the Rio Grande Foundation present,
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Mr. Shandler said the foundation submitted two letters, one is in the packet and the other was passed
out ( Exhibit 2). The letters indicated the Foundation does not believe they have met the threshold under
the city code yet. The next reporting date is Tuesday, April 25, 2017.

Chair Miller asked if there was public comment on the compiaint.
Mr. Jim Harrington with Common Cause was swom.

Mr. Harrington said the Board and Mr. Shandler may not be aware of a legal issue that was implicated.
The position of the Rio Grande Foundation appeared fo implicate the clearest constitutional vulnerability in
the city's campaign reporting law. There appears to be a problem with the spending thresholds.

The Mcintyre case was cited by the Pre-K counsel and took the stance that there is an amount of
spending below which the reporting rules could be imposed. The event driven reporting threshold like
section 9.26 regarding advertising expenditures and where donations came from, could be considerably

lower than political committee reporting where a committee is required to register and report every dime
they spend or take in.

A court decision last March created a safe harbor for 9.26 reporting of a threshold of $1 ,000 or more
and if Rio Grande spent betwsen $350 and $1,000 there is a constitutional vulnerability,

Mr. Stein wanted to add that he had been reminded a video with more than 100 views would also
trigger reporting. The current YouTube video indicates 122 views to date,

Board members viewed the video and the audience was then shown the video.

Chair Miller said the Board's task is to determine if the complaint is tegally sufficient, He thought the
Executive Session was needed, but the Board had that option.

Member Martinez moved that the Board finds the complaint against Rio Grande Foundation
meets the requirements and a hearing should be set. Member Amer seconded the motion and the
motion passed by unanimous voice vote.

Mr. Shandler reminded the Board the final Election Day is two Tuesdays away and there are some
campaign filings due after the election. He offered to research the code if needed.

Chair Miller postponed the determination of the hearing date until the second complaint was heard.

Case #2017-5. Complaint filed by Edward Steln Alleging Violation of SFCC 1987, Section 9-2 and 9-3; “Failure
to Comply with City Ordinances Regarding Campaigning and Elections” against Smart Progress New Mexico.

Chair Miller asked Mr. Stein as complainant, if he had comments on Item 2(b) different than in his
previous complaint.
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Mr. Stein said Smart Progress Santa Fe filed a report indicating they raised $11,000 in cash and $200
in-kind. However, their representative Loveless Johnson in reported news said, “Smart Progress New
Mexico raised af least $11,000, but less than $15,000.... $10,000 was from the Coca-Cola Bottling
Company of Santa Fe and another $1,000 from the Boxcar Bar and Grill, {Exhibit 3)

Mr. Stein said the language attributed to Mr. Johnson shows more than $11,000 was raised in cash,
which they have not reported or identified the other donors. He said Mr. Johnson went on to say “the rest
of the donors” and he concluded that Smart Progress is not reporting the other donor contributions.

Loveless Johnson with Smart Progress New Mexico was swom.

Mr. Johnson said he represents Smart Progress in the responses and they respectfully request the
Board dismiss the complaint without prejudice as the basis of the complaint no longer exists. He met with
the City Attomey and City Clerk by the deadline and explained their letter had erroneously designated
Smart Progress as a 501(c) 3 and they are actually a 501 (c) 4 and therefore subject to federal laws
protecting the anonymity of their donors. However, Smart Progress chose to comply with the ordinance at
that time and was given until close on Monday to file without penatty, which they did.

The assertion that Smart Progress had not disclosed fully is a misinterpretation. it is not a legal basis to
use a mis-quote taken from the newspaper against a certified document notarized as accurate under law.
Every dime Smart Progress raised and spent and the remaining cash has been accurately recorded on the
day they filed. Additional money has been raised since that filing and will be reflected in the report by the
Tuesday, April 25t deadline.

Mr. Johnson said Smart Progress will continue to comply with city regulations as long as they
campaign, now and in years to come in Santa Fe. They respectfully requested the Board find no probable
cause for an additional hearing and close the case without prejudice.

Member Biderman said he was confused by a Boxcar contribution on 2/16 of $250, and another Boxcar
contribution on 2/22 of $750; a Coca-Cola Botting Company contribution on 2/28 of $5,000 and another
Caca-Cola on 3/22 of $10,000 that totaled 11,000 dollars.

Mr. Johnson said the cumulative totals are populated based on the cumulative at the time of the
donation. The addition of $5,000 plus $5,000 is a cumulative total to date of $10,000. He noted that the
report is accurate and complied with specific instructions by the City Clerk. He said since it was their first
report, Ms. Vigil reviewed and approved the report for accuracy before they had it notarized.

Member Amer said the same page shows a Boxcar contribution on 2/16 of $250 and another Boxcar
on 2/22 of $750 and she calculated the contributor cumulative total as $1 ,000, rather than 750 dollars.

Mr. Johnson agreed. He apologized and said he would file an amended report. He appreciated that she
pointed out the error.

Chair Miller asked if the quote in the newspaper was incorrect or a mistake in statement.
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Mr. Johnson explained the quote was a paraphrase rather than verbatim. He did not recail using those
precise words but had claimed that Smart Progress raised 11,000 dollars. He said he would not have
stated an absolute number because they had not yet filed an official report,

Chair Miller asked for further comments from the Board. Seeing none, he opened the floor to public
comment.

Mr. Stein said the report is completely wrong and incomprehensible even with Mr. Johnson’s
explanation. He said he totals the second column and gets $16,000 not 11,000 doliars,

Chair Miller explained that the Board had just discussed that the contributor cumulative total is an
accumulation of contributions and the figures cannot be added up. Coca-Cola contributed $5000, followed
by another $5000 with a cumulative total of 10,000 dollars.

Mr. Stein said he understood Mr. Johnson's explanation, but Mr. Johnson went on o challenge or
attack the reparter that wrote the article. He said the reporter had written: “the rest of the donors he said,
are local business owners or citizens of those Opposed fo the fax”. Then Mr. Johnson said he had a

or from Mr. Johnson saying thank you for resolving this, or giving an explanation and did not think Mr.
Johnson's explanation was credible.

Mr. Shandler confirmed the conversations with Smart Progress New Mexico as represented by Mr.
Johnson were accurate.

Member Martinez asked Mr. Shandler if he had reason to believe the content in the report filed was
inaccurate.

Mr. Shandler replied he had just been focused on getting Smart Progress 1o file.

Member McMillan asked if there wag reason to believe the report was untimely; did the City accept the
report for filing.

Mr. Shandler explained the deadline was Friday. He said he and the City Clerk met with Mr. Johnson
and another representative. Mr. Johnson at that point said Smart Progress had decided to file even though
they reserved their legal objections, but would need time to get the filing together. Mr. Johnson had asked if
possible to file the next business day {(Monday).

Mr. Shandier said after he and the City Clerk reviewed City Code 9.21 0(g), allowing assessment of
$100 fine for unexcused late filing, he made a judgment call. He felt this was not unexcused, it was a legal
dispute that resolved in a settlement or agreement that the Mr. Johnson would file. Therefore the City Clerk
did not administer the $100 fine for the one day.

Chair Miller asked to confirm that communications with Smart Progress New Mexico began between
the City Attorney's office and the City Clerk before the complaint was filed.
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Mr. Shandler said they did, but only a few days before. He learned from the media about the group and
their activity and sent them a letter (in the Board packet) about 48 hours prior to the filing deadline. He
thought the letter could be another argument why the City did not think this was an unexcused late delay.
The events happened quickly and Smart Progress responded quickly to the letter.

Member Biderman moved that the Board dismiss the complaint and not proceed.

Member Biderman said there was a question in the minds of the parties and that was resolved through
discussion and they came forward in good faith. Although there is an error in the form, Smart Progress has
agreed to correct that. He said the Board does not want to second-guess the work of the City Attomey and
Clerk staff. They made a good faith effort to allow an extra day that was sound and the Board should not
overses that.

He added they should be careful not to get too dependent on news reports. What is contained in the form
filed should be the lodestar, opposed to what is reported in the media. '

Member Martinez seconded the motion and the motion was passed by unanimous voice vote.
Chair Mifler announced the dismissal of the complaint Case #2017-5.

Chair Miller returned to scheduling the meeting for complaint 2017-2(a). After discussion, the Board
decided to meet Monday, April 24 at 3 p.m. Mr. Shandler confirmed both parties would be notified the
next day and the board would be notified if there were objections or a motion for postponement, He
confirmed the city practice for the chair to have authority for one postponement.

c) Case #2017-1A/1B. Parties’ Presentations on the Merits of Complaint filed by Karen Heldmeyer Alleging
Violation of SFCC 1987, Section 9-2.5(B); (D); "Disseminating Campaign Material Without
Identifying Source” against Pre-K for Santa Fe.

Chair Miller explained that Pre-K for Santa Fe had waived their right to a hearing and their letter was in
the packet. He noted Mr. Biderman had recused himself during the hearing and would do so now.

Member Biderman recused himself He said he has discussed with the City Attorney and would
observe from the audience because this relates to the opinion letter worked on by the subcommittee.

Chair Miller opened the floor for comment by the parties or any members of the public.

Karen Heldmeyer was swom.,

Ms. Heldmeyer said she appreciated Pre-K had waived all their defenses, but for the record they had
offered many different defenses. She said both Ms. Wexler and Mr. Li are seasoned political operatives and

in the heat of a campaign things are sometimes overlooked, however they came with a number of different
defenses.
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Ms. Heldmeyer suggested that even though Pre-K was not asserting them at this time, the Board
should consider some of the things they said. The issues may well come up in other campaigns. Questions
need to be asked: whether reprinting an editorial is covered by the press exception in the code; whether in
an election on issues rather than candidates, they have to do anything, Then there is the issue about what
the Board needs to do in terms of making advisory opinions; if they need to be asked for an advisory
opinion. Or specifically, could they take it upon themselves to do advisory opinions for issues that come
before them. The language in the code is open to interpretation.

She suggested the Board make a list when they hear problems and act quickly. The election is almost
over and another is on its heels and the Board needs to expeditiously deal with the questions before them.

Mr. Harrington said there had been a request on authority regarding the press exemption and he
inquired at the Campaign Legal Center. They told him there is no authority and they attributed that to the
fact that many of the press exemption's statutes/ordinances, including the federal election campaign
reporting, are excluded from the press exemption when a participant in the campaign paid for recirculation
of material.

He urged the Board to adopt the interpretation that a political committee or candidate paying for
mailers, etc. to be sent out is not a press exemption and should not be claimed as an exemption,

Efi Li was sworn.

Mr. Li said they apologize for their mistake both in the media and before the Board and accept the
Board’s determination on sanctions they wish to impose. He added that he also supports former Councilor
Heldmeyer's proposal to discuss and resolve the questions before the next election, because they probably
would come up again.

Member Lujan confirmed that Mr. Li spoke on the behalf of Pre-K Santa Fe.

Mr. Shandler said the Board packet includes research. He contacted newspapers and asked about
their poficies. Me would be happy to answer any questions.

(The Board May Go Into Executive Session Under NMSA 1978, Section 10-15-1(H) (3) 1o Deliberate In
Connection With an Administrative Adjudicatory Proceeding.)
1)Action on Determination on the Merits of Complaint.
i) Pre-K for Santa Fe “Waiver of Defense”

Chair Miller said it was incumbent upon the Board to make a determination if there had been a violation
of code or not, and if so, whether to impose a sanction. The question, if there had been a violation of code
is whether the reprinting of an editorial and distribution of that falls within the press exception,

Member McMillan thanked Mr. Harrington for following up on his request for additional authority. He
said the question is troubling without the exemption and thought they should look at other codes and
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consider adding a similar exemption. He was not sure the Board was ready to read such an exemption into
the current code for this case.

Member McMillan said he believed a reprinted editorial that someone paid to reproduce and
disseminate is not the same as an editorial in the newspaper and should not be subject to a press
exemption,

Member Martinez moved that the Board finds that Pre-K for Santa Fe violated the campaign
code by distribution of an editorial without identifying themselves as the group disseminating the
material. Member McMillan seconded the motion.

Member Lujan said Pre-K Santa Fe did acknowledge the violation and accepted responsibility.

Chair Miller clarified with Pre-K that by waving their defenses it did not mean necessarily an admission
of wrong doing. Pre-K had commented on their position and said they would let the Board decide.

Member McMilian asked if statements by representatives of Pre-K for Santa Fe at the last meeting
would also be incorporated into the Board's analysis. Chairman Miller replied they would.

The motion finding Pre-K for Santa Fe in violation was passed by unanimous voice vote.
2)Action on Sanctions, if There Was a Violation, as Permitted Under Section 6-16.7 SFCC 1987,

Chair Miller said the Board determined a violation of the code. This section of the code addresses the
Board's authority if a vialation; the board could 1) issue @ reprimand, 2) impose a fine not 1o exceed $500
per violation. The Board may seek enforcement of the fines in district court. He explained a reprimand is a
statement that the board is igsuing a public reprimand for a violation of the campaign code.

Member Amer moved that the Board impose the sanction of a public reprimand for a violation of
the campaign code.

She said the Board should send a message that although inadvertent, this type of mistake is not
tolerated. :

Member McMillan agreed. He said given the candor and contrition of Pre--K for Santa Fe he was not in
favor of a sanction or a fine, but the board has found a violation and letting the community know these
types of mistakes are not tolerated is appropriate. However, if in the course of the hearing process the party
makes clear they have fixed the issue, the sanctions would not be severe,

Member McMillan seconded the motion and the motion to impose a public reprimand was
passed by unanimous voice vote.

City of Santa Fe
Ethics & Campaign Review Board Apiil 19, 2017 Page 8



3) Action on Any Next Steps as Permitted Under Section 6-16

Member Martinez suggested looking at the issue in the code of reprinting an editorial and issuing an
advisory opinion might be helpful on the defenses raised, but then waived,

Member McMillan said they could explore including something in the code similar to what had been
mentioned by Mr. Harrington. That would not constitute an advisory opinion as much as looking at whether
the code should be amended. He added that there were also issues raised by Ms. Heldmeyer he thought
worth exploring.

Member Martinez thought the advisory subcommittee would be willing.

Chair Miller confirmed that the board had decided the reprinting and redistribution of an editorial does
not fall within the press exception under the current ordinancs.

d) Presentation, Discussion and Possible Action on Advisory Opinion an Which Types of Groups Need to Flle
Campaign Reports and Which Types of Groups Need to “Check the Box” under Sections 9-2.6 and 9-2.12.

Chair Miller said the advisory subcommittee consisted of Mr. Biderman, Ms. Martinez and Ms. Kovnat
and he would let them present their opinion.

Member Biderman said this is the first election where the code applied and they have leamned from the
current campaign. He said the subcommittee was confident about offering opinions on two of the items, but
would like to hear from the public on the third. The subcommittee looked first at:

1. Do the provisions of the ordinance apply fo ballot measure elections?

There are a few places where ballot measures are not specifically named in the rules. The City
Attomey’s office advised some who inquired that the rule 9-2.6 that involves disclosure of the source of
campaign funding for literature disseminated may not be applicable for the election on a ballot measure,
opposed to an election for candidates.

The subcommittee finds that for purposes of this rule, there is no difference or distinction between a
candidate election and a ballot measure. As a policy matter it is as important to know the source of funding
for campaigns that involve ballot issues as to know who supports a candidate.

Member Biderman noted a similar discussion at the legistature required disclosure and said that a
candidate can be beholding to a large contributor. The Supreme Court required the candidates to disclose.
A bond issue, ballot issue, etc. cannot be beholding to someone.

The Board felt that both the letter of the rule and the policy favors knowing who is backing a campaign,
even on a ballot issue when supported by contributors, especially large contributors.

The Board finds that a distinction would be contrary to policy and underfie the ordinance, because it
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would reduce transparency in ballot measure elections.

The Board finds that the city ordinance applies in all respects to all elections, including both candidate
and ballot measure elections.

2. How must political committees supporting or opposing ballot measures report contributions and
expenditures under section 9-2.11 (a).

The Board analyzed three types of reports on expenditures and donations: a political committee
reporting its own expeénditures in support of its campaigns; reporting of donors who have funded those
expenditures; and donations received of campaigns, materials and services from other individuals and
entities reported as in-kind donations, including reported expsnditures for the purchasing of materials such
as fyers, yard signs, consulting services, legal fees, office space, donated employse time, efc.

The Board interpreted 9-2.11 (a) to require that these political committees must report contributions of
all kinds, including in-kind donations of goods and services, and identify contributions made by groups not
otherwise required to report,

Member Biderman said mistakenly the advisory committes omitted a reference 10 9-2.12 (b): *a
candidate or political committee that receives contributions from ancther entity that does not have to
disclose its contributors to the City Clerk, shall indicate such on the Campaign Finance Statement
submitted to the City Clerk pursuant to existing reporting requirements.”

There are entities that are not required to report completely such as secondary contributors to
contributors, or the Russian doll issue, or entities protected by status that do not have to disclose under the
law.

Chair Miller confirmed that the advisory opinion also would include 9-2.12 (b) after 9-2.11 (a).

Member Biderman said the advisory committee was not comfortable issuing an advisory on the third
point: the in-kind contribution to a candidate or political committee from a third party independent source.
The rule could be interpreted to mean that the candidate would have to report and mention that the
contribution did not come from a source required 1o disclose their donars.

Another interpretation is that the group making the contribution shouid also be reporting because the
group itself is making a contribution in the campaign. The Question is whether the Board intended for the
receiving entity reporting as a political campaign committee/politician and the outside group to report,

Another side is the Board may possibly be requiring a union with thousands of members who check a
box that allows the use of their dues for political purposes and the union itself donates to a cause (ina
candidate/ballot measure), to report every donor. The intent was not for the purpase of the union to
disclose the name of every union member. The public just needs to know that the union contributed.

Member Biderman said Mr. Hamrington mentioned a case with a threshold point, which might help.
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Member Martinez added the Subcommittee wanted to also hear from the City Clerk's office how onerous
this kind of reporting would be if required.

Member Amer said regarding whether the provisions of the ordinance apply to the baliot measure, the
definition of ballot is defined as: “ballot proposition means an y measurs, amendment or other questions
submitted to, or proposed for submission o @ popular vote at a Santa Fe elsction’. In addition 8286
specifically states “something that is disseminated to 100 or more eligible voters” either expressly
advocates the election or defeat of a candidate, or the approval or defeat of g ballot proposition. She
thought on its facs, the ordinance Clearly applies 1o baliot proposition issue questions.

Mr. Shandler said there will be a filing on Tuesday. He asked for instruclidn to provide the groups.

Member Biderman read 9.2-12(b) “a candidate or poltical committee that receives contributions from
another entity thet does not have to disclose ifs contributors fo the City Clerk...” He said he did not think
that referred to an individual.

Member Martinez said disclosure would depend on the contribution. The question is if they qualify as a
group that would have to file, or if they were just giving an in-kind donation, She suggested people continue
to report as they have been for this election and the issue could be clarified for upcoming elections.

Member Biderman said 9-2.6 (a) sets the threshold of $250, whether cash or in-kind, for anyone
making a contribution, otherwise they are not required to report. He suggested adding a column on the in-
kind form similar to the column on the cagh form, regarding whether the contribution was from a donor that
is not required to report, or to provide an instruction sheet, The subcommitiee favors interpretation of a
stronger stance, but the intent for disclosure was not to the degree of every union member.

Public Comment

Mr. Harrington said there were some misconceptions and one is that the $250 is a threshold for how
big a contribution has to be before it is reported. The $250 is a spending threshotd for expenditures on
advertising materials, etc. and the threshold for reporting contributions is zero.

The second is that someone reporting under 9-2.6 might have to report all of their contributions, such
as the union. However only the contributions received for the purpose of paying for such expenditures
(made in this election) have to be reported. A general contribution to a union, etc. would not have to be
reported unless made for the purpose of paying for advertising. Political committees have to report
everything, but reporting under 9.26 only needs the contributions received for the purpose of expenditures.

Mr. Harrington said thers were reports in political committee filings of expenditures made that clearly
constituted spending covered by section 9-2.6. He provided an example of the American Beverage
Association {ABA) reporting an expenditure of $42,880 for a direct mail piece to voters. Section 9-2.6 says
spending for a direct mail piece requires that be reported. Reporting under 9-2.6 requires a lot more
information; whereas in-kind contributions can be a vague description. He said the Board should be clear
that the code should not be evaded in that manner.
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Ms. Heldmeyer said she had three practical points. 1) When the Board wants public comment they
should put that in writing. People cannot comment if they do not know about it. 2) If the Board finds unclear
items with the law, they could recommend a change of the law to City Council. 3) There is the question of

3. UPDATE ON STATUS OF CAMPAIGN FINANCE LEGISLATION
Member Biderman said the public financing rule was a pocket veto and the disclosure rule as well as
the combined local elections/altemate election years was also vetoed.

4 BOARD MATTERS
Member Martinez suggested holding the Monday hearing after working hours if possible.

Mr. Shandler pointed out there is another complaint to consider on Monday by Elaine Sullivan and

Nancy Woodward alleging misrepresentation to voters of the details proposed in the soda tax ballot
initiative.

5. PUBLIC COMMENT

Elaine Sullivan said she had never filed a complaint before but was motivated after she received three
phone calls from Better Way for Santa Fe. The second call was a repeat of the first and was a taped survey
that included two different references to the category of drinks that would be taxed, referring to diet drinks
and artificially sweetened. The third call was a caller who talked about the number of jobs that would be lost
in Santa Fe if the tax was passed. The calls referenced millions of dollars of surplus that Santa Fe has that
could be used for early childhood education.

Ms. Sullivan asked that Better Way for Santa Fe be held accountable.

Mr. Harrington qualified his earfier statement regarding a safe harbor for spending over 1,000 dollars,
He explained the case involved independent spending in a candidate election and there is a possibility the
10t circuit court might draw a distinction and set a higher threshold for ballot measure elections.
6. SCHEDULE NEXT MEETING - April 24, 2017 at 3 p.m.
7. ADJOURNMENT

Member McMillan moved to adjoum the mesting at 5:14 p.m. Member Lujan seconded the
motion, which passed by unanimous voice vote,
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Approved by:

Justin Miller, Chair
Submitted by:

W spsens Js

Charmaine Clair, Stenograpiér
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MINUTES OF THE
CITY OF SANTA FE
ETHICS AND CAMPAIGN REVIEW BOARD

Monday, April 24, 2017
1. PROCEDURES
A. ROLL CALL

A special meeting of the City of Santa Fe Ethics and Campaign Review Board was called to order on
the above date by Justin Miller, Chair, on this date at approximately 3:00 p.m. in the City Council
Chambers, 1%t floor, City Hall, 200 Lincoln Avenue, Santa Fe, New Mexico.

Roll call indicated the presence of a quorum as follows:

Members Present: Members Absent:
Justin Miller, Chair Kristina Martinez
Judith Amer

Paul Biderman

Ruth Kovnat

Tara Lujan

Seth McMitlan

Staff Present;
Zachary Shandler, Assistant City Atforney

Others Present:
Carl Boaz, Stenographer

B. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

Member Kovnat moved to approve the agenda as presented. Member McMillan seconded the
motion and it passed by unanimous voice vote. Member Lujan was not present for the vote.

C. APPROVAL OF MINUTES April 4, 2017
Mr. Shandler said the minutes of April 4, 2017 were not available.

Member Lujan arrived at 3:08.
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2. DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION

Chair Miller explained to the audience that the Board has two complaints alleging violations of the
campaign finance code. The meeting was scheduled on short notice because it was in the best interest of
the public and the parties involved to resolve the issues as promptly as possible, especially in the context of
an election in which voting is already taking place and election day is a litie more than one week away.

He thanked the parties who were involved in the complaint for being willing to appear and providing the
petition to the Board so expediently.

Chair Miller stated that in this complaint, the political action committee, Better Way for Santa Fe and
Pre-K made inaccurate or false representations of fact in campaign communications. That complaint, as a
matter of procedure, is at the first stage of the Board's addressing that complaint. And that is, for the board
to determine whether the complaint is legally sufficient. The criteria for the Board's determination are four:

1) if the complaint, on its face alleges facts, which, if true, show probable cause to believe there was a
violation;

2) if the complaint was filed within one year after the alleged violation was discovered or should have been
discovered;

3) If the complaint is frivolous or intended solely to harass or intimidate; and,
4) If the Board lacks jurisdiction to adjudicate the complaint.

The initial determination doesn't address the merits of the complaint. It is merely to determine the legal
sufficiency, and if the Board determines that the complaint is legally sufficient, the Board will schedule a
hearing at a future date.

In addressing this complaint, the Board will hear from the complainant, the respondent, and any
members of the public that wish to address the Board.

The second complaint, at the last meeting, the Board determined, and it is against the Rio Grande
Foundation, the Board determined that complaint was legally sufficient and scheduled a hearing for today.
At the hearing, the Board wilt hear opening statements from each party, the Complainant will then present
his case. The Respondent will present its case. Each party will have the opportunity to present evidence in
rebuttal. Each party will have the opportunity to present evidence in rebuttal. Each party will have the

opportunity to make a closing argument. And the Board will deliberate and decide the complaint; and may
enter into executive session fo do so.

Then the Board will deliver its decision, including if there s a finding of a complaint and whether there
is any sanction to be imposed.
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One word on evidence - oral evidence may be taken. It will be under oath. Witnesses may be cross-
examined. Redirect or recross will be permitted. And the evidentiary rules of civil procedure do not apply in
this context. According to the Board's rules of practice and procedure, any evidence is admissible, if it is the
sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to relying on in the conduct of serious
affairs. That is the standard by which we will be considering evidence

Without further explanation or discussion, the Board moved {o item 2a and noted that neither Ms.
Sullivan nor Ms. Woodward, the complainants, were present.

a. Case#2017-6. Complaint filed by Elaine Sullivan and Nancy Woodward Alleging Violation of
City Charter Section 2.05; SFCC 1987, Section 9.1.2, 9-2.2A; “Intentionally Misleading and
Misrepresenting to Voters the Details of the Proposed Soda Tax Ballot Initiative” against
Better Way for Santa Fe and Pre-K.

- in Accordance with Section 6-16.4 SFCC 1987 “Determination of Legal Sufficiency,
Setting a Hearing.” Consideration of Whether the Complaint Sets Forth Legally Sufficient
Facts Which, if True, Show Probable Cause to Believe There Was a Yiolation. (The Board
May Go into Executive Session Under NMSA 1978, Section 10-15-1(H)(3) to Deliberate in
Connection With an Administrative Adjudicatory Proceeding.)

1) Action Regarding Whether the Complaint Sets Forth Legally Sufficient Fact Which, if
True, Show Probable Cause to Belleve There Was a Violation.

2) Action on Any Next Steps as Permitted Under Section 6-16.

The Respondent, Mr. Scott Fuqua was present. He said, “| believe you were provided with a letter,
delivered today. | won’t belabor the point of the letter but according to the four criteria the Chairman
described earlier, this complaint fails on both the first and the fourth criteria. it is not that money was spent
inappropriately nor a failure on the way it was raised or spent and there is no ethical deficiency. But itis a
claim that information provided was factually inaccurate. Nothing in the code would permit this Board to sit
in judgment of statements made in the course of a campaign. There is not much more to say about that
point. Nothing says that political speech has to be accurate or whether a statement is true or false.

First, whether it is truthful or not, ferreting out what is true is notoriously difficult and the kind of
cesspool that keeps entities from stepping into political discourse. Attack ads take a kernel of truth and
build on it fo make the most unflattering portrait possible. There is no arbiter to make that decision. Thatis
the purpose of political speech. At the risk of aggrandizing that, this complaint is about political advocacy.
The answer to information misleading is to combat that assertion. An article was published yesterday
saying some may be misleading or objectively false. It has to do with proponents of the measure stating “1-
cent tax' vs. ‘2 cents per ounce tax’.” Even if there were some provision in the code, which there is not, the

Board would still want to think carefully what its role is in the matter. It gets really murky really quickly. The
compiaint is not legally sufficient.

There were no questions from the Board.
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Chair Miller noted the complainant cited {o the Charter Section 205. He asked if Mr. Fuqua had
anything to say about the claim that anything in the Charter or other provisions have anything to say to it.

Mr. Fugua didn’t see anything in any of the content of the complaint that would violate those provisions.
That was his read of them.

There were no statements from the public regarding this matter and the public portion of this case was
closed. The complainants were still not present.

Member Biderman agreed with Mr. Fuqua's statement across the board. He didn’t see anything in the
cited provisions either that would go info accuracy of any statement or falsehood and he was also equally
concerned about first amendment provisions. This is political speech. “We'd never get out of here from that

kind of allegation of false statements.” Mr. Biderman thought the Board needed to dismiss the complaint for
lack of jurisdiction.

Member Kovnat agreed it should be dismissed. Voters have the last word on this. There is robust

coverage on it and the Board should not take a position to intrude on the power of the volers to make a
decision,

Member McMillan and Member Amer agreed with those comments.

MOTION: Member Biderman moved to dismiss Case #2017-6. Complaint filed by Elaine Sullivan and
Nancy Woodward Alleging Violation of City Charter Section 2.05; SFCC 1987, Section 9.1.2, 9-2.2A

for lack of jurisdiction. Member Kovnat seconded the motion and it passed by unanimous (5-0)
voice vote.

Chair Miller declared that the Case #2017-6 complaint is dismissed.

b. Case #2017-4A/4B, Complaint filed by Edward Stein Alleging Violation of SFCC 1987,
Sections 9-2 and 9-3; “Failure to Comply with City Ordinances Regardmg Campaigning and
Elections” against the Rio Grande Foundation Smart

— In Accordance with Section 6-16.4 SFCC 1987 “Determination of Legal Sufrclency. Setting a
hearing.” Consideration of Whether the Complaint Sets Forth Legally Sufficient Facts Which, if
True, Show probable Cause to Believe There Was a Violation. (The Board May Go Into Executive
Session Under NMSA 1978, Section 10-15-1 {H) (3) to Deliberate in Connection With an
Administrative Adjudicatory Proceeding.)

Mr. Edward Stein was swom. He stated that Mr. Fuqua had reminded him of some arguments he had

in the Seventh Circuit years ago. It also reminded him of why he enjoyed the Santa Fe Playhouse 1984 a
few weeks ago.
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On April 19, this panel sustained his complaint regarding Rio Grande Foundation and Paul Gessing
and set today for a hearing thereon. “Last week, | introduced myself for the record. Briefly, | am a retired
attomey, graduated from Brooklyn Law School in 1967 and practiced faw in lilinois for about 45 years. My
areas of concentration were civil rights, employment discrimination and the First Amendment. | was a board
member of the ACLU of lllinois for 18 years. | am a resident of Santa Fe at 3172 Plaza Blanca in Park
Plaza; a home that my wife and | have owned since 1990. We raised four children and have five
grandchildren. We retired in 2012 from full-time employment and moved to Santa Fe. | believe strongly in

the law and dedicated my professional life to that philosophy. | believe Santa Fe and its citizens share that
view,

On or about April 6, 2017, Rio Grande Foundation and Paul Gessing launched its No Way Santa Fe
campaign against beverage taxes. The initiative claims to be a public education initiative on sugary drinks.
Itis not. Initiative is a propaganda campaign; not an educational one. The campaign, rather than singing

praises of sugary beverages, which obviously, they are arguing, is a clear statement that the tax labels the
Mayor as a tax and spend sham,

At about the same time, No Way launched a video on Youtube, attacking Mayor Gonzales and labeling
the tax as ‘regressive’ and intentionally misstating Philadelphia’s experience with their tax on sugary
beverages. The video graphics show the Mayor in an unflattering carloonish-like and the people nodding
their heads ‘no’ throughout the video - a video | think you have all seen last week. And it is still up.

As of a week ago, there were 118 views and as of today, there are over 150. The ordinance in question

9-2.6A contemplates advertisement or publication that would attract a hundred views and this is way more
than a hundred views.

As a footnote, we offered to make our expert, Glen Silver, who is here, whose affidavit was submitted
last week, a signed and notarized one which | produced and would like to identify as Exhibit C today. As a
footnote, we offered Mr. Silver available to respond but received no such request. Mr. Silver wil festify in
part, that the video would cost, either in cash or in-kind, at least $3,000, if not more.

I'm not here to complain about Rio Grande Foundation, No Way, or Mr. Gessing's advertising content
or advertising content, but | am pointing out that their work is in no way educational. In fact, after looking at
or listening to their content, people will be less informed than if they didn't look at it at all, 'm here because
these respondents violated city ordinances and they should be held to account for their violations. If we
want clean and fair elections, then we must make sure that participanis adhere to the laws and rules.
These respondents, we will show, violated Campaign Code 906.6 A in two crucial parts. Any person or
entity that makes expenditures of $250 or more, in the aggregate, during a single election to pay for any
form of public communication ... that Is disseminated to one hundred or more eligible voters - and that
exprossly advocates for the election or defeat or approval or defeat of a ballot resolution, not merely a
candidate. They took the liberty of attacking our Mayor, in addition to the tax, advocates the election or
defeat or approval or defeat of a ballof proposition within sixty days before an election, must file with the
City Clerk a report of all expenditures, etc. This they have not done.

| call, as my first witness, Mr. Gessing.
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Chair Miller said, Mr. Stein, we will have an opening statement for the Rio Grande Foundation and then
we will have tesiimony.

Mr. Stein apologized.

Mr. Carin Hunter said, Mr. Chair, testing Mr. Chair, members of the Board my name is Carlin Hunter. |
went to the University of New Mexico school of Law. Prof. Kovnat was my Civil Procedure Prof. in 2000, |
think. But | am here representing the Rio Grande Foundation. And what the evidence will show, and we
have the Facebook. Once the Foundation was made aware of the ordinance, they immediately stopped
spending. Rio Grande Foundation did not spend one penny on the video. It did spend approximately $201
on Facebook ads promoting the video. And when Mr. Gessing testifies, Mr. Stein, and | will do that on direct
myself, is free to ask him about the origins of the video. But it's not something that Rio Grande Foundation
spent a single dollar on. So, they are under the $250 threshold that the ordinance contemplates.

f looked at the affidavit that Mr. Stein attached to his complaint but | don't think you disagreed or | don't
know how much it cost. | don't think Mr. Gessing knows how much it cost to produce the video. He did not
produce it, he did not pay for it. He did repost it. He did expand money for Facebook ads to promote the
video. So, | think we have a factual defense. But another thing that | ask the Board {o consider is the
constitutionality of the City of Santa Fe’s disclosure requirements and election of the First Amendment. Mr.
Gessing also is one of our exhibits, which evidence will show had planned a postcard campaign. But as

soon as he found out, and if he had mailed out the poster that he designed, he would easily have exceeded
the threshold.

In 2010, our own Tenth Circuit Judge, Harris Hartz, whose chambers are in the Bank of Albuquerque
that building, authored a unanimous opinion in Sampson v. Bauscher in his original capacity as Secretary
of State. And in that case, the State of Colorado passed what is called the disclose act. !t set a threshold
four disclosure at $200 and it applied to candidates and two ballot initiatives. What the 10t Circuit decided,
which is still binding law - it's a Colorado case but it's part of this same circuit and it is good precedent -and
| will quote directly from the majority opinion. It says, Point does contend that Colorado reporting
requirements unconstitutionally burden their First Amendment right to associate. We agree that Colorado
law, as applied to plaintiffs, has violated their constitutional freedom of association. There should be no
proper governmental interest in opposing disclosure requirements on ballot initiatives committees that raise

and expand so little money. And that limited interest cannot justify the burden that those requirements
impose on such a committee.

The rational is in Valeo in 1964 case, the Supreme court laid out a three-pronged rationale for - first, it
acknowledges that there is some infringement on the right of association with disclosure laws. But then It
lays out a three-pronged rationale of why it is constitutional. He went through the three factors and why
they are not furthered Dick in a ballot initiative case. He concluded that it is still in effect in ballot initiatives
and does not overcome freedom of speech. But for this ordinance, the Foundation would continue to be
speak and be engaged in his process but because of it and because of the correspondence it received from
City Attorney office regarding the ordinance in this process, it has chasen not to.
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He noted that Mr. Stein provided some detail about his background and working on First Amendment
issues and practicing before the Second Circuit, Seventh Circuit. But In the Tenth Circuit, the law is clear.
Disclosure reporting requirements on entities and ballot initiative cases are unconstitutional.

One other case he mentioned: Southwest Organizing Project v Herrera - also a 2010 case - a nonprofit
out of Albuquerque sent literature about incumbent Senate Democratic candidates in advance of the
election. They never mentioned the opponents by name. What Secretary of State Herrera tried to do is
apply New Mexico's campaign reporting act to those nonprofits. They resisted, which would have required
them fo register as political commitiees with the State and disclose their spending. They refused. The Tenth
Circuit found in favor of SWOP. It said that nonprofits, a federally recognized nonprofit — you can't force
disclosure of their contributors or their spending or make them register as a political action committee. The
facts aren't nearly as analogous, but encouraged the Board to look at the Colorado decision. It is about as
analogous as you can get to the situation this Board confronts. The only distinguishing factor in that case is
that the Colorado threshold was $200 and the Santa Fe threshold is $250. It is constitutional as applied to
candidates. All three of the factors laid out by Judge Hartz apply to candidates, but two of them are not
present in ballot initiatives. We intend to provide a factual defense but also ask the Board to keep in mind
the constitutionality of the ordinance that it is considering enforcing against the Rio Grande Foundation.

Mr. Stein called Mr. Paul Gessing as his first witness.

Mr. Stein: Mr. Gessing, would you please state your name and spell your last name?
Mr. Gessing: Yes. | am Paul Gessing-GESSING.

Chair Miller: Mr. Stein, if you don't mind, let's swear in the witness.

Mr. Boaz: Under penalty of perjury, do you swear or affirm that the testimony you are about to give is
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

Mr. Gessing: | do.

Mr. Boaz: Thank you.

Mr. Stein: please state your name and spell your last name, sir.

Mr. Gessing: Paul Gessing. GESSING.

Mr. Stein: What is your occupation?

Mr. Gessing: | am the President of the Rio Grande Foundation. That is a 501(c) 3, nonprofit, policy
research organization, based in Albuquerque, New Mexico. | am the president and have been for a little
over 11y ears, now.

Mr. Stein: And do you get paid for your work?
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Mr. Gessing: | do.

Mr. Stein: Are there any other staff members at the Rio Grande Foundation who also get paid?
Mr. Gessing: There is one other gentieman and he is the Research Director, named Dowd Muska.
Mr. Stein: Can you tell us what the annual budget of the Rio Grande Foundation is?

Mr. Gessing: In 2016, it was approximately $260,000.

Mr. Stein: And did the Foundation spend all or most of that money during the course of the year?
Mr. Gessing: We spent that money during the course of 2016, correct.

Mr. Stein: Now, your counsel made an opening statement and said neither you or the Rio Grande
calculation paid any money for the Youtube video that's in question here.

Mr. Gessing: That’s comrect.

Mr. Stein: Now, have you heard of the project of the Rio Grande Foundation called No Way, Santa Fe?
Mr. Gessing: Yes.

Mr. Stein: What is that?

Mr. Gessing: it is an educational effort o discuss the ballot measure that's going to be on the ballot in
May, on May 2, taxing soda that two cents an ounce tax on it.

Mr. Stein: When did No way, Santa Fe, come into existence?

Mr. Gessing: We actually started; present out a press release on Thursday, April 6, The reporting
deadline was the seventh. So, our release went out on 6 April.

Mr. Stein: Okay. And let me ask you something. My math is a little rusty. But, would the April 6 be less
than 60 days to the ballot initiative of May 27

Mr. Gessing: It would be.

Mr. Stein: Has No Way, Santa Fe filed any reports, any documents, with the City Clerk of the City of
Santa Fe?

Mr. Gessing: No.
Mr. Stein: Has Rio Grande Foundation filed any reports or statements of expenditures or donations with
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the City of Santa Fe?

Mr. Gessing: Not filings, per se, but City Attorey Shandler and | have had various letters going back
and forth addressing these issues. | wouldn't say it is a filing. | am not - discussing versus filing is kind of a
nuance ferm, but ...

Mr. Stein: So, in one of the letters that you sent to City Attomey Shandler, did you say that you were
preparing to file something with the City of Santa Fe on April 14, 20177 If you remember,

Mr. Gessing: We ... on the 7t, we - first, and foremost, | looked got a letter very quickly about his
expeditious response to our press release. | think | either got it the aftemoon of the sixth or the moming of
the seventh, with details of the campaign finance laws. In Santa Fe and asking me whether those were
issues that would comply and whatnot. We sent a letter back, in compliance with the April 7 deadline,
essentially saying, that we just launched and were not clear on where we stood. Sa, we wanted to look at
things that we filed a letter on the 14%. { believe that the letter that said did not get the threshold.

Mr. Stein: So, that you sent a letter on the 14, saying you didn't have to file a report because you
didn’t hit the threshold. -

Mr. Gessing: Right.

Mr. Stein: What time did the ... What date did the video, the Youtube video coms out?

Mr. Gessing: it was for a week at that time.

Mr. Stein: So, it came out around the 11t of April.

Mr. Gessing: Yes.

Mr. Stein: Okay. And is that ... my math is a little rusty. Is that less than 60 days before the election?
Mr. Gessing: It is.

Mr. Stein: Now, did you file any letters on or about April 20t with the City?

Mr. Gessing: Again, | think it was in response to a request 1o appear here and what that letter entailed,
whether we were going to go ahead and appear here.

Mr. Stein: But, no reports to the City Clerk. Now, as we sit here or stand here, and sit here this
afternoon, is the YouTube video - the No Way Santa Fe video up and running?

Mr. Gessing: Itis. Yes.
Mr. Stein: And, do you have any idea how many hits it's had since it's been up?
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Mr. Gessing: 1 was hoping for thousands but guess 150 is what will have to settle for.

Mr. Stein: Okay. So, that, by the way, have you ever read the campaign ordinance in the City of Santa
Fe?

Mr. Gessing: I've read the relevant sections as outlined by the City Attorney and maybe more.

Mr. Stein: But, were you aware that 100 hits - contemplating 100 hits of electors, voters - that's what
you talking about his voters and Santa Fe, right? — the Youtube video?

Mr. Gessing: This his, broadly speaking, local?

Mr. Stein: Well, would your video have any impact on somebody in Austin Texas to vote on this
initiative?

Mr. Gessing: Not unless they are considering a soda tax.
Mr. Stein: Would they have any relevance to Santa Fe?
Mr. Gessing: Probably not.

Mr. Stein: The Youtube video that you put on television on computers was direcled to voters in Santa
Fe, was it not?

Mr. Gessing: | couldn’t say voters. | would say citizens of Santa Fe. It doesn't have to be voters.

Mr. Stein: well, my 5-year-old granddaughter, if she saw the video, what difference would it make? She
can't vote.

Mr. Gessing: Well, | have a 7-year-old that might show me a video they thought was interesting. And
that might be a fun way to someone. You may not be one to send it to a fund developer or something along
those lines. The viral nature of the internet is not for me to pander but it was not targeted specifically at
voters.

Mr. Stein: Okay. That works. Now, | want to show you... May { approach the witness?

Chair Miller: Yes.

Mr. Stein: | went to show you a document, [inaudible — away from the microphone.] | ask you to identify
it.

Mr. Gessing: it is the release dated Aprit 6, 2017, which announced our Initiative, our efforts under the
auspices of No Way, Santa Fe.
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Mr. Stein: Your counsel, in his opening statement, said the Rio Grande Foundation didn't spend one
dollar on this video.

Mr. Gessing: Right.

Mr. Stein: Did No Way for Santa Fe, and initiated project of Rio Grande Foundation spend any money
on this video?

Mr. Gessing: No. In fact, No Way it is not legally separate from the Rio Grande Foundation in any way.

Mr. Stein: Okay. Sa, do you have any idea who made the video?

Mr. Gessing: Rio Grande Foundation has numerous relationships with nonpartisan policy organizations
all over the country. And an organization that is in philosophical alignment with the Foundation, but not

based care in New Mexico made the video. And ...

Mr. Stein: And, what is their name?

Mr. Gessing: That information I'm not going to reveal unless compelled to. I's an organization that, let's
just say, will come out on our statements; our 990 forms. If my counsel suggested | should bring it forth, |
would be glad to do that. But here in | am not.

Mr. Stein: Let me just say this.

Mr. Gessing: Itis a nonprofit 501c3, though. | will say that

Mr. Stein: And that protects it from anything. It is a political action committee. | would say that | don't
know whether or not ... Does this Board have contempt powers?

Mr. Shandler: Mr. Stein, let me research that.

Chair Miller: God ahead Mr. Shandler.

Mr. Stein: | appeal to the Chair and to the Board to compel this gentleman to disclose the information
that F've asked. This would otherwise be a subterfuge. Can you imagine how easy it would be to get around

your own ordinances if organizations could say, ‘oh we've got this donated and put it on but we didn't have
anything to do with it?’ So, | ask ...

Chair Miller: Mr. Stein, for purposes of this hearing, the witness has answered your question and did
not provide the information you asked, so, these proceed with the questions.

Mr. Hunter: (away from the microphane) Under the ordinance, it doesn’t require disclosure. ltis a
501¢3. [the rest of his statement was not audible |

City of Santa Fe
Ethics & Campaign Review Board April 24, 2017 Page 11



Mr. Stein: In my opening remarks, | alluded to Rio Grande and No Way making political statements
through the video, making them a political action committee.

Chair Miller: The Board is not in a position to compel the witness to disclose it.
Mr. Stein: Okay. In my opening remarks, 1 alluded to Rio Grande and No Way Santa Fe, making political
statements through this video. And | think that is the definition of a political action committee. But
regardless, do you know how much you spent on this? On this video?

Mr. Gessing: On this production? No.

Mr. Stein: Do you know how many people worked on it?

Mr. Gessing: [gestured].

Mr. Stein: Is that a no?

Mr. Gessing: No, sir.

Mr. Stein: Do you know whether they had a director?

Mr. Gessing: | do not. | am not a film maker. | don't.

Mr. Stein: So, you would have no basis to challenge my expert witness, Mr. Silver's opinion as to how
much this video would have cost?

Mr. Gessing: No. | would not.

Mr. Stein: And you don't have any witnesses here to challenge Mr. Silver's opinion regarding the cost
of the video. Do you have the computer skills to produce a video like this?

Mr. Gessing: No, | do not.

Mr. Stein: Does anybody in your organization have those skills?

Mr. Gessing: No.

Mr. Stein: Do you know what ... how much time would be spent in producing this video?

Mr. Gessing: No. | do not.

Mr. Stein: Do you know how much ... how difficult or simple it is to have graphics and movement on a
video?
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Mr. Gessing: No, | don't.

Mr. Stein: Aside from ... You submitted some expenditures today that appear to be Facebook costs for
what?

Mr. Gessing: So, the primary means of distributing the video is, has been through the use of Facebook
advertising. They have a mechanism where you can pay money o make stuff — advertising, whatever -

appear in people’s Facebook feeds. That's what is displayed here. And | wanted to be sure to give you the
correct numbers - $198.96.

Mr. Stein: Can | assume that the video is in line with Rio Grande's opinion about the sugary beverage
tax?

Mr. Gessing: Sure. At the various eleven years we've consistently been an organization that works
against higher taxes; for limited government and individual person freedom across the boards. And this is
right in line with everything that the Rio Grande Foundation has always stood for.

Mr. Stein: And is it also in line with No Way Santa Fe?

Mr. Gessing: Yes.

Mr. Stein: So, in other words, you have adopted the video as your own.

Mr. Gessing: | don’t know how you would adopt a Youtube video.

Mr. Hunter: [objected but speaking away from a microphone).

Chair Miller: Mr. Gessing, did you testify earlier that No Way Santa Fe is a part, an am of the Rio
Grande Foundation? Did | hear you correctly?

Mr. Gessing: No Way Santa Fe is simply a name for a campaign. Yes, it's a wholly ... There is no legal
documentation to separate No Way Santa Fe from the Rio Grande Foundation.

Chair Miller: So, it is not separated from Rio Grande Foundation.
Mr. Gessing: Right.
Chair Miller: 1 think he has testified that it ...

Mr. Stein: Yes, he has testified. So, the question is, would you say Mr. Miller, that it's argument as to
whether they have adopted it or not?

Chair Miller: Well, you can continue asking the question. The reason | asked because | thought | heard
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him to say that No Way Santa Fe is, | guess, the same entity - it's not even an entity — it's part of the Rio
Grande Foundation. So, | was trying to get clarity on the answer, But, go ahead.

Mr. Stein: t have no further questions.

Mr. Hunter: Members of the Board, I'l be brief. | think Paul (Mr. Gessing) was pretty clear in his
testimony in this cross. | guess | would make a request of the City Atomey and the Chair, | think we have
some exhibits. Do | need to go through and ask Mr. Gessing to identify each one of those exhibits? Or, ¢an
I move in that that the Facebook receipts and the one postcard be admitted as exhibits?

Mr. Stein: | have no objection.

Chair Miller: Thank you. | think that's fine.

Mr. Hunter: Okay. We will move, at this point, to have respondent’s — was Mr. Stein letters? We would

move at this time to have respondent’s 1,2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, which are all Facebook receipts and

Respondent's 9, which is a postcard with the graphics that were produced and nothing was ever mailed, as
Respondent's 9.

Chair Miller. Well, thank you. Do we need to identify each exhibit individually? Are you asking questions
about them?

Mr. Hunter: | don't think so. The Board has them in front of them. | think Paul's testimony that there is
$197 approximate in there and the only other one is a post card. So, ¥m not ... unless it would be the
Board's preference, | wasn't intending to ask a question about each of these exhibits. | noticed that Mr.
Stein did not object to their foundation or authenticity.

Chair Miller: I'm just not sure which exhibit is which number? Could we do ...7

Mr. Hunfer: | could provide ...

Mr. Shandler: We will figure it out for the issue in the interest of time. The important part is the
cumulative total. And | want to get this comect. | wrote down $198.96.

Mr. Gessing: That's what | got - $198.96, if | didn't make a mistake with my calculator. | am very
confident that they are well below the threshold.

Chair Miller: Okay. To ahead. Thank you.

Mr. Hunter: Mr. Gessing, were you aware of the disclosed Santa Fe disclosure of what compliance was
before PRN from the Santa Fe City Attomey?

Mr. Gessing: | was not.
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Mr. Hunter: After you were made aware of the disclosure requirements, did you spend anything
additional at that point?

Mr. Gessing: Well, it depends on different defining spending but there were Facebook ads already in
place that were continuing to go out, that | could have stopped. However, | did not ... | made very sure that
the $250 was not something that we violated because of the law and the way that it read.

Mr. Hunter: Prior to being informed by the City Attorney about the disclosure requirements, what had...

What speech had Rio Grande Foundation planned to engage in before being made aware of the
ordinance?

Mr. Gessing: Well, these postcards ... well, postcards of a similar nature were supposed to be sent out.
Bemie Sanders opposes the soda taxes. And, even though we are more of a conservative free-market
organization, we felt that that was a message that hadn't been put out publicly. We were also contemplating
radio advertising. Those were going to be the main expenditures associated with any effort. That broader
distribution of radio to get that number of views into the thousands or more.

Mr. Hunter: And Mr. Gessing, i think you've made this point clear, but just to make absolutely - Rio
Grande Foundation didn’t spend a single penny on the production of the video at issue in Mr, Stein's
complaint. Is that accurate?

Mr. Gessing: Yes.

Mr. Hunter: | don't have anything else for Mr. Gessing.

Chair Miller: Thank you. Any redirect, Mr. Stein?

Mr. Stein: Nothing except the same question. Please disclose the name of the organization that created
this video, gave it to you that you are actually benefitting from, and in your testimony today.

Mr. Hunter: Well, again, we would object. | don't think reasonable people benefit from the question
being asked before over and over again. [The rest was inaudible away from the microphone.]

Chair Miller: Okay. | don't see any ... the Board is notin a position to compel the witness to answer that
question and you have asked it and he has responded. So, do you have any further redirect?

Mr. Stein: No.
Chair Miller: Okay. Thank you.
Mr. Stein: | would like to call Mr. Silver

Mr. Hunter: {away from the microphone] - We would prefer that we would disagree with the affidavit on
its face and have no reason to doubt that the affidavit is accurate on video costs.
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Chair Miller: Well, thank you. | think that is helpful. You are welcome to proceed with questions. But, to
the extent that you're trying to elicit facts that are already stated in the affidavit, we have that and the
respondent has stipulated to it.

Mr. Stein: Okay. Then, | don't know in this forum how this works but would Mr. Silver's expertise be

accepted as our expert in this area and could it be qualified as an expert in this area - based on counsel’s
statement?

Mr. Hunter: Yeah, | would just clarify on procedure or process that this is qualifying him as expert. We
don't disagree that he has experience to proffer an opinion as an expert statement. We don't disagree with
what he offered.

Chair Miller: Well, thank you. | think the Board is in a position to qualify or not qualify someone as an
expert but we will consider the evidence and the testimony.

Mr. Stein: Since counsel has not abjected fo the affidavit, and, in fact, said that there is no reason for
Mr. Silver to go through each statement in the affidavit, which is already swom fo. But | would like to ask
Mr. Silver a couple of question.

Mr. Boaz: May | swear the witness?

Mr. Silver: Oh please. Sorry.

Mr. Boaz: Please state your name and address.

Mr. Silver: My name is Glen Silver. | live at 70 Heartstone Drive, Santa Fe New Mexico.

Mr. Boaz: Under penalty of perjury, do you swear or affirm that the testimony you are about give is the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

Mr. Silver: | do.

Mr. Stein: So, I'm going 1o be brief, Mr. Silver, and | appreciate your coming here today. And | know
you're leaving this week. You'll be out of town. But you will be available for any question that the Board
might ask. I'd like to go directly to what ... You testified that this video would cost at least $3,000. What
went into your opinion? And what are the components of that opinion, if you could, to tell the panel?

Mr. Silver: Sure. A video; a one-minute video that is constructed not of live production, but of graphics,
of animation, have many components. And, first of all, someone had to write it. And this is a very
professional, very slick video, in my opinion. So, you have a writer who has to spend time writing it. And it's
not just that they write it one ime. They write it for someone else who has commissioned him to write it.
And it goes through a number of revisions. And that becomes the road map for the production, itself. Now
if you typically have a writer, sometimes, the producer could also be the writer. But that's not necessarily
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the case, especially with something that has this type of competence, that needs to be approved by the

entity that's paying for it. So, there is likely two parties there: the writer and the producer, which you could
also call the director. | would call them in TV terms, the producer.

We also know there is a very professional narrator involved, which we heard. That wasn't done by Mr.
Gessing or anyone who knows. That's professional. There was music throughout and sound effects, which,
while not necessarily original, even if they were coming off of a service where you pay, like when ! worked
at ABC News or CBS News. They pay a great amount of money to have certain .... | wouldn't call them
public domain, but they buy music libraries. They buy them for a fee and then they can use them over the
course of a year as they want. That's more money.

Now, the key element here is once you get the scripts, is the graphics and animation. And they are
fairly intense. And when you see something that looks this good and this simple, and percolates along the
way it does, you know someone has worked very hard to do it.

Okay, this is not ... | said $3,000. My guess Is, it is probably closer to at least twice that. The graphics
have to be created. We are so used to seeing things on TV, especially on Youtube: we just think it is all for
free. Every single image in that video had to be created or acquired. Okay? There is no free lunch here. |
have testified that | made you know, something like 80 prime-time news magazines. And | take great pride

in every image | put into those prime-time stories. And they are heavily vetted by my bosses, just the way
this was vetted by whoever commissioned this.

F'm not graphics expert, per se, although  have worked on many occasions with the graphics department
for example, of ABC News, while | was a 20/20 producer for ten years. And that's a conversation | have
with the graphics expert. | also consulted with my own editor, who has in his possession, my final cut pro
edit system to confirm my opinion that these were intensively produced images, especially the ones with
emotion. There are some images that are not hard to produce, like you see the five instances where there
is @ quote and a newspaper and you put it up with what we call a tear. Itis as if it was tom off of a piece of
Paper and you put a headline of where it came from. Those can be produced pretty quickly. But it still takes
generally, hours. Okay? These are not done like that.

According to consulting with my editor who's got my edit system, he suggested the likelihood that the
.. the tool that was used fo create the motion — and there s a lot of motion in this one minute, one second
video, is something known as after effects. It's a video tool.

Mr. Hunter objected: The opinions of other people shoufd not be included, providing commentary. More
speclfically, when he includes the comments of the editor and other people. We would be ...

Mr. Stein: No. This would be ... | don't know how many experts counsel has interviewed or examined.
But this is precisely what expert does. Once his credentials are established, he can go anywhere — books,
literature, articles, others, and reaffirm his opinion, based on the whole. So, Counsel’s objection is
inappropriate. And, he is doing this. It would have gone a lot smoother, if he would have just sat down. And
| ask the Board to overrule that objection and let Mr. Silver, who is ...
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Chair Miller: Let me, let me.... You've both made your point. | see nothing objectionable with the
testimony so far, other than it is largely about the affidavit to which the opposing side has stipulated. So, in
the interest of not having a whole lot of redundant testimony, just keep that in mind when you are
questioning.

Mr. Siiver: | am close to being done. Basically, my point is that it is, in talking about the graphics, the
motion, the animation, and | could go through each instance individually, if you want me to. | looked at it
again today and ticked off about eight instances of generally what 'm talking about. It's very labor intensive.
This is a pro job. This is not something someone’s teenager put together. And it is not something you get or
free. Someone paid a lot of money for this. | estimated on the low end, $3,000. it could easily be two or
here times that amount. Thank you.

Mr. Silver: | have nothing further.

Chair Miller: Counsel?

Mr. Hunter: I'll be very brief. Are you a supporter of the soda tax?
Mr. Stein: We object.

Mr. Hunter: You know, | think that impartiality and bias of the witness, no matter what forum, is always
relevant.

Chair Miller: Go ahead, Mr. Hunter.

Mr. Hunter: Are you a proponent or opponent of the proposed City of Santa Fe soda tax?
Mr. Silver: I can't. | live in the county. So, | cannot vote in this election

Mr. Hunter: Do you have an opinion on the City of Santa Fe's proposed soda tax?

Mr. Silver: | do.

Mr. Hunter: And what is that opinion?

Mr. Siiver: | would be in favor of it.

Mr. Hunter: Did you and Mr. Stein discuss your opinion on the soda tax prior to you signing on as his
expert or preparing that affidavit?

Mr. Sitver: Not at all. | was just asked to review the production, itself.

Mr. Hunter: And ! will remind you that you are under oath, even though in a Board. And it is a fine to be
untruthful under oath. But you testified that you and Mr. Stein never discussed your ...
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Mr. Stein: It is inappropriate to admonish a witness when he has no testimony for which to admonish.
We have no evidence that he is not telling the truth. This is a topic that | have seen time and time again —
by people ... | urge you to admonish Counsel to abstain from that.

Chair Miller: Okay. Objection noted. Mr. Hunter, please continue.

Mr. Hunter: | understand you are under oath testimony. You and Mr. Stein have never had a

conversation between the two of you where you made your view that you supported or opposed the soda
tax.

Mr. Silver: To the best of my recollection, we've only discussed the nature of the production, itself.
Mr. Hunter: | don't have anything else.

Chair Miller: Thank you. Mr. Stein, do you have any redirect?

Mr. Stein: No.

Chair Miller: Any further witnesses?

Mr. Stein: no further witnesses.

Chair Miller: Okay. Thank you. Mr. Hunter, does the Rio Grande Foundation call any witnesses?
Mr. Hunter: We do not, Mr. Chair.

Chair Miller: Very well. We will go to closing arguments, first from Mr. Stein.

Mr. Silver was excused.
Closing arguments:

Mr. Stein: | was thrown a curve ball to find they would not disclose who produced it and how much it
cost. My argument is that the video that's benefitting the ideology and position of Rio Grande and No Way
Santa Fe that they have adopted the video. They've advertised it: they've embraced it, they've taken it as
their own. The testimony not only is crystal clear but unrebutted that the video was well over $250 and they
did not file one report or document, as required under the law.

If the Board believes this video was dropped out of the sky and landed in Rio Grande Foundation's lap
as a gift and put it on as an advertisement and they are not responsible for reporting the cost of that for
reporting, then that would completely vitiate all campaign laws and rules not only in Santa Fe but across the
country. This is a subterfuge; this is the way dark money gets used and gets exploited. And who pays in the
end? We do, for not knowing who's interests ... For instance, Rio Grande comes out here and says they
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are a not for profit think tank.

Now, | didn't ask, because | know | would get an objection where would $200,000+ of Rio Grande
Foundation comes from. Was it the Koch brothers? Was it Coca-Cola? Was is some... Where was that
maney coming from? | don't know. And, quite frankly, | don't care right now. But what | do care about is that
they did not file the proper papers. Santa Fe should not condone this type of behavior. Because it will only
open the door to the next campaign whether it is a ballot initiative or a candidate.

Now, let me just say, | haven't read Buckley v. Valeo in a long time. It was a 1960's case decided ever
before | was in law school. When | was in faw school, you know what cases were decided? Map, Miranda,
Venium. They are what drove to civil rights and civil liberties — those decisions.

Buckley deals with candidates. It doesn't deal with campaign initiatives, propositions. So, 1 think it is
imelevant to this proceeding. And | don't believe this panel has the jurisdiction to rule on the constitutionality
of the City of Santa Fe's ordinance. | think that goes somewhere else. And only, should this panel find
against Rio Grande, which | think it should, so send a message to these types, on the right or on the left,
because when you are going to use dark money, you've got to disclose it. You can't use this subterfuge
that you didn't pay for anything. Somebady paid for it. They should not only be sanctioned; but they should
be ordered to withdraw the Youtube video from the airwaves. Because, even as we are talking, that video is
going over and over again. Thank you.

Chair Miller: Thank you.

Mr. Hunter: Mr. Chair, members of the Board, | think Mr. Stein is incorrect when he says that behavior,
like Rio Grande Foundation is believed to be evisceration of disclosure laws all over the country. What has
led to evisceration of disclosure laws are laws like this all over the country is the first amendment of federal
courts. What Rio Grande and ... I've never appeared before the Santa Fe Board of Ethics and Campaign
Practices. But in dealing with Mr. Fuqua, who was once Counsel for the Secretary of State. The primary
goal of Campaign boards is to enforce compliance, above anything else. In this case, Mr. Shandler,
informing Mr. Gessing of what the disclosure requirements were - Mr. Fuqua testified under oath,
uncontroverted, that he spent less than $200. He is choosing not to spend and engage in political speech
because of the ordinance. And he is complying because of the ordinance. So, we would ask that you take
that into account when deciding what the Board will do with this complaint going forward. Nothing was
presented to controvert Mr. Gessing's testimony that the Rio Grande Foundation did not spend one penny
on the video. The ordinance at issue says that in-kind contributions to candidates or committees must be
disclosed if they are between political action committees and candidates. | don't know what - A video was
produced that Rio Grande used. | don't know if that is considered an in-kind contribution or what, But
nothing in the Santa Fe election code regarding disclosure requires that type of contribution or in-kind
contribution. And we would just ask that, looking at the totality of the circumstances here, that the Board not
find or sanction Rio Grande Foundation. We would encourage the Board to look at - and | would add to Mr.
Stein’s discussion of Valeo. And he is correct about Valeo. It applied to candidates. And so, what the Tenth
Circuit did in the case against the Secretary of State, is it applied it to ballot initiatives. What it said is the
underpinnings of Valeo don't hold true for ballot initiatives. And that is why it's dropped, on its face, found
the disclosure act in Colorado unconstitutional as applied to ballot initiatives.

City of Santa Fe
Ethics & Campaign Review Board April 24, 2017 Page 20



So, we don't disagree that that is what Valeo said. But what the Tenth Circuit has done is applied
Valea's principles to disclosure in ballot initiative cases. Taking all of that into account, The Rio Grande

Foundation, Paul Gessing, respectfully requests that the Board take no action against the Rio Grande
Foundation.

Mr. Biderman asked Mr. Mr. Hunter - we looked at the video last week. | remember that it included the
name of the campaign. No Way Santa Fe.

Mr. Hunter agreed that it did.

Mr. Biderman reasoned that they took responsibility for the dissemination of it. The question really is
whether that makes them liable or contributes fo making them liable.

Mr. Hunter said, “Yeah, it was produced at no cost for them to distribute. | mean, that would be a hint of
the arangement. They don't have the ability to do that. | have no expertise to know how you would bill that,
doing that. The Rio Grande didn't produce it; didn’t pay for it, but did plan to distribute it. And the only
efforts taken to distribute it, | think the evidence shows this — was the Facebook ads that they've already
paid for and then posting it on Youtube and sending out a press release and that's it.”

Chair Miller said that concludes the presentations from both parties.
Member Kovnat asked if there would be any public comment.
Chair Miller said they could if the Board would like to.

Member Lujan said okay.

Chair Miller asked for public comment and reminded them that another meeting Is scheduled to start at
5:00.

Mr. Jim Harrington, Common Cause, was swom. He said they don't take sides on these complaints
and it was a very interesting factual issue. He said, *| stood up before to take issue with Judge Hartz
opinion in Samson that all disclosure in ballot cases are unconstitutional, It seemed both sides tried to
inflate his opinion in such holding which he is not. It is true that Judge Hartz makes clear in that opinion that
he personally believes the constitutionality is questionable but he acknowiedges the repeated Supreme
Court affirmations that voters have an interest in knowing who is behind ballot measures. And the
disclosure requirements in ballot measure cases as well as candidate cases have been repeatedly upheld
by the Supreme Court and other courts. What Samson v Vershey is about ends up being a threshold case
under which you cannot impose some spending threshold, below which you cannot constitutionally impose
disclosure requirements. It may be a little higher in the Tenth Circuit.

Except for the issue of the spending threshold, he didn't think there is any doubt whatsoever of the
constitutionality of Santa Fe's disclosure requirements in ballot measures as well as candidate elections.
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There were no others from the public.

Member McMillan asked Mr. Hunter, looking at the Facebook invoices, if he knew to whom they were
submitted.

Mr. Hunter said they were submitted to the Rio Grande Foundation.
Member McMiltan asked about the address in Minnesota.

Mr. Hunter did not know about that.

Member McMillan asked about an executive session.

Member Lujén moved to go into executive session pursuant to NMSA 1978, Section 10-15-
1(H)(3) to deliberate in connection with an administrative adjudicatory proceeding. Member Amer
seconded the motion which passed by unanimous roll call vote with Members McMillan, Lujan,
Amer, Kovnat and Biderman voting in the affirmative and none voting against.

The Board went into closed executive session at 4:30 p.m.

The Board returned to open session at 4:56 p.m. upon motion by Member Amer, second by
Member Biderman and unanimous voice vote.

Chair Miller announced fo the public that during the executive session, no actions were taken and the
only matters discussed were those alfowed under the Open Meetings Act, NMSA 1978, Section 10-15-
1(H)3).

1) Action Regarding Whether the Complaint Sets Forth Legally Sufficient Facts Which, if
True, Show Probable Cause to Believe There Was a Violation.

2) Action on Any Next Steps as Permitted Under Section 6-16.

Member Biderman moved that the Board find that the Rio Grande Foundation has violated
Section 9-2,6b by creating the No Way Santa Fe as a political committee which was made
independent of expenditures and contributions of anything of value in amounts greater than $250
which it has failed to report. He further moved that the Board issue a reprimand to Rio Grande

Foundation for that violation and order a report to be made forthwith to fulfill the responsibilities of
the Campaign Code.

Member Amer seconded the motion and it passed by unanimous voice vote.
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Mr. Shandler clarified that it applies to 2B also.

Mr. Hunter noted in the Board procedures that there s a 5-day period to request reconsideration and
asked what starts that 5-day period.

Mr. Shandler didn’t have an answer.
Chair Miller agreed to get an answer to Mr. Hunter on that question.
Chair Miller stated that because there was no time left for this meeting, the other matters will be taken

up at the next meeting.

c. Case #2017-1A/B. Parties’ Presentations on the Merits of Complaint filed by Karen
Heldmeyer Alleging Violation of SFCC 1987, Section 9-2.5(B) (D); “Disseminating Campaign
Material Without identifying Source” against Pre-K for Santa Fe.

(The Board May Go into Executive Session Under NMSA 1978, Section 10-15-1 H)(3)to
Deliberate in Connection with an Administrative Adjudicatory Proceeding.)

1) Action on Determination on the Merits of Complaint.
L Pre-K for Santa Fe “Waiver of Defense”

2} Action on And Next Steps as Permitted Under Section 6-16.

This matter was not considered.

d. Presentation, Discussion and Possible Action on Advisory Opinion on which types of

Groups Need to File Campaign Reports and which Types of Groups Need to “Check the
Box" under Sections 9-2.6 and 9-2.12.

This matter was not considered.

3. UPDATE ON STATUS OF CAMPAIGN FINANCE LEGISLATION

This matter was not considered.

4. BOARD MATTERS

No Board Matters were considered.
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5. PUBLIC COMMENT

No public comment was considered.

6. SCHEDULE NEXT MEETING (IF NEEDED)

No meeting schedule was considered.

7. ADJOURNMENT

Member Biderman moved to adjourn the meeting. Member McMillan seconded the motion and [t
passed by unanimous voice vote.

The meeting was adjourned at 5:15 p.m.

Approved by:

Justin Miller, Chair
Submitted by:
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Cari Boaz for Carl G. Boaz@
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